
   

 
Commission on the  
 Status of Women 
 

2180 Milvia Street – 5th Floor • Berkeley • CA • 94704 • Tel. 510.981.7071 • TDD: 510.981.6903 • Fax: 510.981.7099 

Commission on the Status of Women 
Wednesday, November 15, 2023 – 7:00pm 

North Berkeley Senior Center 
1901 Hearst Ave, Berkeley, CA 94709 

 

AGENDA 
 

Mayor Arreguin:  Rashi Kersarwani:  Terry Taplin: 
Tiffaney Boyd  Alison Simon   Saanvi Arora 
 
Ben Bartlett:   Kate Harrison  Sophie Hahn 
Kameka Goodwin  Shirley Posey  Vice-Chair Radha Seshagiri 
 
Susan Wengraf:  Rigel Robinson:  Mark Humbert 
Chair-Carole Marasovic  Keyanna Ortiz-Cedeno Linda Oliver   

 
All items are for discussion and possible action. 

 
1. Roll Call. 
 
2. Reading of Land Acknowledgment. 
 
3. Public Comment for Items not on Agenda. 

 
4. Presentation on Sex trafficking with Q and A. Discussion and Possible Action. 

 
5. Approval of Minutes from October 18, 2023. Discussion and Action. 

 
6. Approval of Agenda. Discussion and Action. 

 
7. Chair Report (Discussion only) 

 
8. Planning Schedule for 2024 Commission on the Status of Women Meetings. Discussion and 

Possible Action. 
 

9. Discussion on Planning Approach towards a Recommendation on Sex Trafficking in Berkeley. 
Discussion and Possible Action. 
 

10. Discussion on Addressing Safety for Older Women. Discussion and Possible Action. 
 

11. Finalize Work Plan. Discussion and Possible Action. 
 
 
 
 



   
Commission on the Status of Women  
November 15, 2023 
Page 2 of 2 
 
 

 ADA Disclaimer “This meeting is being held in a wheelchair accessible location. To request a 
disability-related accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including auxiliary aids or services, 
please contact the Disability Services Specialist at 981-6418 (V) or 981-6347 (TDD) at least five 
business days before the meeting date. Please refrain from wearing scented products to this 
meeting.”   
 
 
Communications Disclaimer   
Communications to Berkeley boards, commissions or committees are public record and will become 
part of the City’s electronic records, which are accessible through the City’s website.  Please note: e-
mail addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are not required, but if 
included in any communication to a City board, commission or committee, will become part of 
the public record.  If you do not want your e-mail address or any other contact information to be 
made public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service or in person to the secretary of 
the relevant board, commission or committee.  If you do not want your contact information included in 
the public record, please do not include that information in your communication.  Please contact the 
secretary to the relevant board, commission or committee for further information.   
 
 
SB 343 Disclaimer   
Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the Commission regarding any item on this 
agenda will be made available for public inspection at the City Manager’s Office located at 2180 
Milvia Street, 5th Floor. 
 
 
Commission Contact Information   
Okeya Vance-Dozier, Secretary   
Commission on the Status of Women   
2180 Milvia Street, 5th Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704   
510/981-7239 (Office)   
510/529-5376 (Cell) 
Ovance-dozier@berkeleyca.gov (email) 



   

Land Acknowledgement Statement 
 
 

The City of Berkeley recognizes that the community we live in was built on the 
territory 
of xučyun (Huchiun (Hooch-yoon)), the ancestral and unceded land of the 
Chochenyo 
(Cho-chen-yo)-speaking Ohlone (Oh-low-nee) people, the ancestors and 
descendants 
of the sovereign Verona Band of Alameda County. This land was and continues to 
be of 
great importance to all of the Ohlone Tribes and descendants of the Verona Band. 
As 
we begin our meeting tonight, we acknowledge and honor the original inhabitants 
of 
Berkeley, the documented 5,000-year history of a vibrant community at the West 
Berkeley Shellmound, and the Ohlone people who continue to reside in the East 
Bay. 
We recognize that Berkeley’s residents have and continue to benefit from the use 
and 
occupation of this unceded stolen land since the City of Berkeley’s incorporation 
in 
1878. As stewards of the laws regulating the City of Berkeley, it is not only vital 
that we 
recognize the history of this land, but also recognize that the Ohlone people are 
present 
members of Berkeley and other East Bay communities today. The City of Berkeley 
will 
continue to build relationships with the Lisjan Tribe and to create meaningful 
actions 
that uphold the intention of this land acknowledgement. 



   

  
Commission on the  
 Status of Women 

2180 Milvia Street – 5th Floor • Berkeley • CA • 94704 • Tel. 510.981.7071 • TDD: 510.981.6903 • Fax: 510.981.7099 

Commission on the Status of Women 
Regular Meeting – October 18, 2023 

DRAFT MINUTES 
 
The meeting convened at 7:00pm with Chairperson Marasovic presiding.  
 
 
ROLL CALL  
 
Present: Boyd, Goodwin, Marasovic, Posey, Arora, Seshagiri 
Absent: Simon, Ortiz-Cedeno, Oliver 
Leave of Absence:  
 

/////////////////  
 

 
Comments from the Public  
  
 Public attendance: 2 
 Public comments:  1 

    
/////////////////  
 
Action 
 
Item # 1:   
Approval of September 20, 2023 Minutes: 
 
Minutes Approved 
  
M/S/C: Marasovic, Goodwin 
Ayes: Boyd, Goodwin, Marasovic, Posey, Arora, Seshagiri 
Absent: Simon, Ortiz-Cedeno, Oliver 
Leave of Absence:  
 
 
/////////////////  
 
Item # 2:   
Approval of the Agenda: 
Chair Marasovic motioned to changed the order of the agenda, so that the presenters could go first 
and the reminder order of business would be handled shortly thereafter. 
 
Agenda Approved 
  
M/S/C:  Marasovic, Posey 



   
Commission on the Status of Women 
Minutes – October 18, 2023 
Page 2 of 3 
 
 
Ayes: Boyd, Goodwin, Marasovic, Posey, Arora, Seshagiri 
Absent: Simon, Ortiz-Cedeno, Oliver 
Leave of Absence:  
 
 
/////////////////  
 
Item # 3:    
Panel/Presenters on Sex Trafficking. Discussion and Possible Action. 
 
Commission staff will work Berkeley High School Resource Officer Dozier and Sergeant Parsons to 
gather additional statistics and relatable data and present to the commission in the upcoming months 
to further build out a resolution to be sent to council. 
 
/////////////////  
 

Item # 4:   
Discussion of Topics from Small Business Subcommittees. Discussion and Possible Action. 
 
Commissioner Seshagiri will continue gathering information as it relates to the topic and provide an 
update to the commission at a later time. 
 
 
/////////////////  
 
Item # 5:   
Discussion on Proper Lighting in the Neighborhoods. Discussion and Possible Action. 
 
Commission Chair Marasovic advised Commissioner Goodwin to reach out to Council member 
Bartlett office to request for better lighting in various areas of the Berkeley community and also see 
what is already being addressed. 
  
/////////////////  
 
 
 
Item # 6:   
Discussion of a Calendar of Public Information (such as housing and mortgage protection, 
health insurance sign ups) that the City could Share via Social Media. Discussion and 
Possible Action. 
 
Commission staff was not able to discuss  
  
/////////////////  
 
Item # 7:   
Discussion on Non-Profit Village Connect. Discussion and Possible Action. 
 



   
Commission on the Status of Women 
Minutes – October 18, 2023 
Page 3 of 3 
 
 
Commissioner Goodwin proposed that Village Connect and a present at a future meeting she will 
keep the commission updated as to future dates. 
 
/////////////////  
 
Item # 8: 
Discussion on Whether to approach Commission Issues of Interest as a Full Commission or 
as a Subcommittee Identified by the Individual Issues. Report from any Additional 
Subcommittees, if any. Discussion and Possible Action. 
 
Commission staff was not able to discuss. 
 
/////////////////  
 
 
Item # 9: 
Continue to Develop Workplan. Discussion and Possible Action. 
 
Commission staff was not able to discuss  
 
/////////////////  
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 9:30pm 
 
Respectfully Submitted,  
 
 
Okeya Vance-Dozier, Secretary  
Commission on the Status of Women 



Sex Trafficking Policy in 
Berkeley, California 

For the Berkeley Commission on the Status of 
Women 

Amanda Jordan Christenson 

 

  

       Mills College Public Policy Program 

        May 3rd, 2013 



 

 

ii 

 

 

Disclaimer 
 

This study has been prepared for the Berkeley Commission on the Status of Women in 

Berkeley, California. The author completed this study in partial fulfillment of the 

requirements for the degree of Masters in Public Policy at Mills College. The judgments 

and conclusions are solely those of the author, and are not necessarily endorsed by the 

Mills College Public Policy Program, the client organization, or any other agency. 

  



 

 

iii 

Table of Contents 

Executive Summary ............................................................................................................. v 

I. Chapter One ....................................................................................................................... 1 

Description of research .................................................................................................................... 1 

II. Background ...................................................................................................................... 3 

Definition of Human Trafficking ................................................................................................... 3 
United States Laws about Human Trafficking .......................................................................... 9 
California Laws About Human Trafficking ............................................................................. 10 
Existing conditions in Berkeley .................................................................................................. 12 

III. Policy Options .............................................................................................................. 20 

Understanding the Problem: Data Collection and Identification ................................... 21 
Broad Police Options ...................................................................................................................... 23 

Additional training for police officers ...................................................................................................... 23 
Creating a comprehensive police policy for identifying sex trafficking victims ................ 24 

Focus on CSEC.................................................................................................................................... 25 
School Curriculum .............................................................................................................................................. 25 

Focus on Massage Parlors............................................................................................................. 26 
Code Violations .................................................................................................................................................... 26 

Targeting People who Buy Commercial Sex .......................................................................... 28 
Dear John letters .................................................................................................................................................. 28 
John Schools ........................................................................................................................................................... 29 

Network with Services in Alameda County ............................................................................ 29 

IV. Analysis of Options Presented ................................................................................. 31 

V. Recommendations and Conclusions ........................................................................ 43 

Conclusion .......................................................................................................................................... 44 

Acknowledgements ............................................................................................................. I 

Appendicies .......................................................................................................................... II 

Works Cited.......................................................................................................................... IV 

 



 

 

iv 

 

Table of Figures and Table of Tables 

 

FIGURE 1: UN PROTOCOL OF 2000 DEFINITION OF HUMAN TRAFFICKING ......................................... 3 

FIGURE 2: VTVP SIMPLIFIED DEFINITION OF HUMAN TRAFFICKING ................................................... 5 

FIGURE 3: STREETS KNOWN FOR STREET PROSTITUTION IN 1980’S AND 1990’S .......................... 15 

FIGURE 4: LOCATION OF MASSAGE PARLORS  SHUT DOWN ON PROSTITUTION SUSPICIONS ...... 1515 

FIGURE 5: JUVENILE PROSTITUTION ARRESTS 2000–-2009 IN ALAMEDA COUNTY ...................... 17 

FIGURE 6: ALTERNATIVES CRITERIA MATRIX ....................................................................................... 32 

 

TABLE 1: POLICE CODES USED BY BERKELEY POLICE FOR PROSTITUTION AND SOLICITATION . 1313 

 



 

 

v 

Executive Summary 

This report will explore policy options on sex trafficking for Berkeley, CA. The City of 

Berkeley is concerned with sex trafficking within its city limits as well as in Alameda 

County. These concerns stem from a high profile trafficking case in 2000 involving a 

Berkeley landlord who trafficked underage girls for both labor and sex (Chabria, 2001). 

There is also concern about sex trafficking taking place in massage parlors in Berkeley 

that are suspected of being fronts for prostitution (Oakley, 2011). The commission is also 

interested in options to educate high school students about sex trafficking so that they can 

better avoid tactics that traffickers use to coerce youth into sex work.  

Berkeley exists in the larger context of Alameda County, and shares a border with 

Oakland which is known as a major hub for trafficking of Commercially Sexually 

Exploited Children (CSEC) in the Bay Area (HEAT Watch, 2012). Although there have 

been few sex trafficking cases in Berkeley in the last 10 years, the issue of sex trafficking 

is geographical and a strong stance on sex trafficking for every city in Alameda County 

could help make a united front against sex trafficking in the Bay Area.   

For this project I analyzed practices from six different categories of policy options that 

best fit the current conditions and needs of Berkeley. These policy options focus on were: 

 

• Focusing on data collection and victim identification 

• Focus on broader goals for police: training police officers to recognize trafficking 

victims in these situations through additional training and explicit training 

materials and police codes 

• Focus on CSEC, by creating curriculum in schools  

• Focus on massage parlors and other commercial businesses that may be fronts for 

prostitution or trafficking 

• Focus on men who buy commercial sex  



 

 

vi 

• cCreatinge a network with other cities in Alameda County and Alameda County 

services. 

 

These different issue areas were evaluated based on the current conditions in Berkeley 

and using criteria including cost, efficiency, effectiveness, political feasibility, and 

administrative feasibility.  

I make three four main recommendations based on my analysis:;  

• A sShort- term goal of administering a quantitative study of service providers in 

Berkeley in order to gather data on the scope of the sex trafficking problem in 

Berkeley beyond police data. As well as to satisfy the secondary goal of 

identifying the competence of service providers serving at-risk populations and to 

gauge whether further training is needed.  

• A mid-term goal to influence the Berkeley Police Department to create a targeted 

set of policies and include additional training for officers in order to better equip 

Berkeley Police to identify and offer services to trafficking victims. 

• A mMid-term goal of looking into options for curriculum for at-risk youth. 

• As a longer-term goal to join the Alameda County SEM Network which is a 

network of service providers which will allow for these services to be coordinated 

which will help trafficking victims by allowing coordinated care across agencies 

by sharing knowledge and information. 

 

These three four recommendations are within the scope of Berkeley’s resources and fit 

within the context of the current conditions in Berkeley at this time.  

 

 



 

 

1 

I. Chapter One 

Human trafficking is quickly becoming recognized as a global issue. In the last 15 years 

there has been an increased interest in creating laws surrounding human trafficking based 

on several high profile trafficking cases in the United States (Lee & Lewis, 2003). 

Human trafficking in the United States is multi-faceted, and includes both United States 

citizens and non-United States citizens some who are brought into the United States for 

the purposes of being trafficked. The United States is not the only destination country for 

international trafficking, but it is one of the largest destination countries for traffickers 

(United States Department of State, 2008).  

This report will explore possible policies for Berkeley, CA. This report is not meant to be 

an overview of sex trafficking in general, but offer policy solutions for addressing and 

recognizing instances of sex trafficking in the specific location that is in the client’s 

jurisdiction.  

Description of Rresearch  

The City of Berkeley is concerned with human trafficking within its city limits as well as 

in Alameda County and cities along the I-580 corridor. Although Berkeley has seen few 

confirmed cases of sex trafficking in the last 10 years, the city exists in the larger context 

of Alameda County, and shares a border with Oakland, which is known as a major hub 

for minor sex trafficking in the Bay Area (HEAT Watch, 2012). A policy for Berkeley 

could act as deterrence for traffickers settling in Berkeley, and the Bay Area in general 

and would enable them to collaborate with other cities in Alameda County on policies in 

ways that could form an effective united front on this serious issue.  

Berkeley is interested in developing policies and defining the scope of the problem, 

although Berkeley does not currently have a comprehensive set of policies regarding 

human trafficking. 

 



 

 

2 

Arguably the highest profile human trafficking case Berkeley has seen in recent years 

was the Lakireddy case in 2000. In this case Lakireddy Bali Reddy, a prominent Berkeley 

landlord, trafficked underage girls for both labor and sex. He was later suspected of being 

involved in labor trafficking and smuggling as well, over a period of 17 years (Chabria, 

2001). The human trafficking was discovered through the investigation of a different 

charge, for negligent homicide of one of the trafficked girls who had died after a gas leak 

in one of Lakireddy’s properties where the girls were living (Diana Russell & Marcia 

Poole, 2003). In this case, both sex and labor trafficking were at issue, which is an 

example of how the lines between the two forms of trafficking can be blurred in some 

cases (Barnhart, 2009). This case has influenced state policy in California by influencing 

the passage of a bill setting higher penalties for traffickers (Sundaram, 2012).  

More recently there has been concern surrounding massage parlors in Berkeley that are 

acting as fronts for prostitution. It is suspected that sex trafficking may be taking place at 

these businesses (Oakley, 2011).  

The mission of the Berkeley Commission on the Status of Women is to “seek 

improvement of all conditions affecting women and advocate (for) women's issues” (City 

of Berkeley, 2013). Sex trafficking is central to the mission of the commission because 

sex trafficking disproportionately affects women (United States Department of State, 

2012). By targeting sex trafficking and offering services, Berkeley can help curb the 

problem of sex trafficking within its borders as well as in Alameda County.  



 

 

3 

II. Background 

Definition of Human Trafficking 

The United Nations Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, 

Especially Women and Children defines human trafficking (or alternately trafficking in 

persons) as the “recruitment, transportation, transfer, harboring or receipt of persons, by 

means of the threat or use of force or other forms of coercion… for the purpose of 

exploitation” (United Nations, 2000). Full text can be found in Appendix A.  

Figure 1: UN Protocol of 2000 Definition of Human Trafficking 

 
Source: (United States Department of State, 2008) 

 



 

 

4 

 

The UN Protocol definition is visually demonstrated in Figure 1. Under this definition, 

human trafficking of an adult requires each of the process, means, and goals to be present 

in order to be considered under this definition, unless the victim is under the age of 18 in 

which case only the process and goal are required. This means that no force or coercion is 

necessary if involving people under the age of 18 to be considered human trafficking.  

This is a standard definition of trafficking that was adopted by the United Nations in 

2000. It was meant to set a standard to be accepted by countries to address the multi-

national issue of hHuman tTrafficking and to assist individual countries to create their 

own comprehensive legislative definitions (Gozdziak, 2005).   

The UN definition was adopted by the United States in the Victims in Trafficking and 

Violence Protection Act of 2000 (VTVP) with minor changes and expansions. The VTVP 

simplifies the means to broad categories of force, fraud, and coercion. Force is defined as 

physical restraint or physical harm and violence, fraud is defined as false promises about 

employment, wages, or the type of employment, and coercion as threats of physical harm 

or restraint in a pattern intended to control the trafficked persons (Trafficking and 

Violence Protection Act of 2000 ). The VTVP also makes a clear and simplified 

distinction between types of trafficking, placing trafficking into two distinct groups: labor 

trafficking and sex trafficking (see Ffigure 2). 

Labor trafficking is defined as trafficking people for labor or services. People trafficked 

for labor are often coerced through debt bondage or peonage in which traffickers require 

forced labor to repay real or alleged debt, however the debt is not reasonably paid down 

from wages, or define the nature of the work (SENTENCE NEEDS REWORDING) 

(Office of Refugee Resettlement, 2012). This traps the victim in a cycle of real or 

perceived debt and can even be inherited within a family (US Department of State, 2011). 

 



 

 

5 

Sex trafficking is trafficking people for commercial sex acts. Commercial sex acts are sex 

acts in exchange for money or other things of value (Trafficking and Violence Protection 

Act of 2000 ). Sex work or prostitution are not the same as sex trafficking as they involve 

commercial sex acts being performed without coercion being a factor. Understanding the 

differences between sex work and sex trafficking are important when crafting polices that 

explicitly target sex trafficking. Although commercial sex work is illegal in the United 

States, using broad policies in order to catch sex trafficking will have negative 

consequences against the very populations that they are designed to help.  

 Targeted polices, on the other hand, are much more likely to affect trafficking without 

further disenfranchising populations who voluntarily engage in sex work, sometimes as a 

strategy for survival. 

Figure 2: VTVP Simplified Definition of Human Trafficking 

 
Created by: Jordan Christenson Data from: (22 USC § 7101) 

For the purposes of this report I will focus on the VTVP definition, as it is the standard 

definition recognized in the United States and encompasses the UN definition fairly 

completely.   



 

 

6 

 

The term “human trafficking” insinuates that transportation of people across state or 

country borders is necessary to be considered trafficking because the term is often used 

when speaking about the cross-border transport of drugs and firearms or other. However, 

movement is not a necessary part of identifying a trafficking victim if recruitment or 

other processes and exploitation are present (United States Department of State, 2012). 

Although the definition does not require movement, undocumented people and people 

who are interested in being immigrants to the United States are vulnerable populations 

which face greater risk of being coerced because of their documentation status, language 

barriers, poverty, lack of employment options, among other issues (Polaris Project, 2013).  

Trafficking is distinct from smuggling in a few important ways. People who are 

smuggled generally cooperate with the smuggler; t, there is generally no coercion 

involved with the act of smuggling., Oonce over the border, people who are smuggled are 

free to leave the smuggler and their movement is not contained by their smuggler, and 

smuggling always involves crossing international borders whereas trafficking does not 

always involve crossing borders. (U.S. Department of State, 2006). 

Consent to the process or goal of the act of trafficking is irrelevant if any of the defined 

means are present (e.g. Threats, coercion, force). This means that although trafficked 

people may consent to smuggling, work, or other acts, they are still defined as trafficking 

victims if their trafficker uses coercion, force, or other means to control their actions and 

movements. It is also important to note that any illegal acts that were conducted while 

under coercion or as a result of the trafficking do not disqualify the trafficked person 

from the definition of a human trafficking victim (United States Department of State, 

2012). 

In the case of people under the age of 18, any recruitment, harboring or transferring for 

the purpose of exploitation with or without coercion or force is defined as trafficking 

(United Nations, 2000). Youth who are sexually trafficked are called Commercially 

Sexually Exploited Children (CSEC) which is the term I will be using throughout this 



 

 

7 

report. However, there are other terms that are used to describe this population including 

Commercially Sexually Exploited Youth (CSEY), and Commercially Sexually Exploited 

Minors (CSEM) (MISSEY, 2010). I chose to use CSEC throughout this paper because it 

is a fairly standard acronym used by the majority of the sources and better practices that I 

researched, although the others may be more accurate about the populations as CSEC 

includes all people who are sexually exploited under the age of 18. Youth populations of 

who have a greater risk of being trafficked based on their vulnerability include homeless 

youth and youth in foster care (Polaris Project, 2013). The average age that women and 

girls report that they were trafficked into sex work is 12 to 14 years old (Minnesota 

Coalition Against Sexual Assult, 2009).  

There is no one face to human trafficking. Trafficking victims come from all genders, 

nationalities and ages (Polaris Project, 2013). Accurate data and statistics about human 

trafficking are difficult to capture because of the nature of the issue. Many elements of 

human trafficking make the issue difficult to estimate because of the illegal and secretive 

nature of the phenomenon compounded by the global scope of the problem. Issues with 

data reporting exist, including underreporting, trafficked persons located in difficult to 

calculate areas such as private residences and businesses, and the type of data collection 

and quality varies by country and jurisdiction (Clawson, Layne, & Small, 2006). 

Estimates have shifted wildly depending on the organization estimating the trend, and the 

year that the data was released (Jac-Kucharski, 2012). Although organizations have come 

out with different estimates, the International Labor Organization estimates are 

considered a definitive source since they released their first estimate in 2005 (United 

States Department of State, 2012).  

In June 2012, the International Labor Organization issued a new estimate. It’s new 

estimate of global trafficking in persons to be 20.9 million people a year. They estimate 

that 55% of forced labor victims are women and girls, as are 98% of sex trafficking 

victims (International Labor Organization, 2012). This is an increase from their previous 

estimates, highlighting the difficulty to capture reliable data about human trafficking.  

 



 

 

8 

Although the United States is considered a major destination country for human 

trafficking (United States Department of State, 2012), accurate information about the 

scope of the issue is similarly difficult to gather. The United States faces similar issues in 

terms of accuracy, and reliability of the data (Clawson, Layne, & Small, 2006). The 2006 

Trafficking in Persons Report estimated that 14,500–-17,500 persons per year are 

trafficked into the United States. This estimate has not been updated since 2006, but 

previous estimates ranged from 18,000 to 50,000 persons (U.S. Department of Health and 

Human Services, 2007).  

Human trafficking within the United States of people and citizens internally has not been 

estimated with as much attention because United States policy generally takes an 

international view of the issue. Although any demographic of people can be trafficked, 

there are vulnerable populations that are more at risk of being trafficked for labor or sex 

work than others. These include runaway and homeless youth, foster youth, new 

immigrants, and other oppressed groups (Polaris Project, 2013). 

California is a major destination for human trafficking, and 80% of labor trafficking cases 

in California are estimated to take place in the areas in and surrounding Los Angles, San 

Diego, San Francisco, and San Jose (University of California Berkeley Human Rights 

Center, 2005). It is estimated that sex trafficking cases are similarly concentrated in these 

areas (HEAT Watch, 2012). Berkeley is part of the San Francisco Bbay Aarea, making it 

a potential area for human trafficking to take place.   

For the purposes of this report I will be focusing mainly on sex trafficking. However, 

keeping in mind the interconnectedness of the types of trafficking is key even when 

looking at a specific segment of trafficking that takes place. 

As well as private homes being used, businesses can act as fronts for prostitution that 

may include trafficking (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2007). These 

include strip clubs, massage parlors, hotels, and other businesses (Hepburn, 2010). 



 

 

9 

The reasons that trafficking victims have trouble accessing services are varied and 

generally involve fear and lack of knowledge. Barriers to providing services to trafficking 

victims include; language barriers, lack of funding, lack of training, lack of resources, 

safety concerns, and the victim’s immigration status (California Alliance to Combat 

Trafficking and Slavery Task Force, 2007). Finding a way to counteract these barriers is 

important for service providers hoping to serve victims of human trafficking. 

Human trafficking and prostitution are often used interchangeably in policies and laws. 

Although the aims of policies that blur the line between prostitution and trafficking are to 

reduce trafficking, they can have unintended consequences for non-citizens, sex workers 

who are not coerced, and other groups (Laczko, 2010). In crafting the policies 

surrounding human trafficking for Berkeley, it is important to create policies that will 

minimize unintended consequences by carefully crafting the language and intent.  

United States Laws about Human Trafficking 

There are three main ways national legislation addresses the issue of human trafficking: ; 

iIdentifying trafficking victims, targeting traffickers, and targeting men who buy 

commercial sex. 

The aforementioned Trafficking and Violence Protection Act of 2000 adjusts sentencing, 

sets up the T-Vvisa program that allows trafficking victims to have the availability of 

services. The TVPA defines “severe forms of trafficking” and outlines benefits that 

trafficking victims are eligible for. Among the established benefits was the creation of the 

T-Visa program, which establishes non-immigrant status for trafficking victims who are 

not U.S. citizens and allows them to have access to benefits and stay in the United States. 

People who apply for T-Visas are required to work with law enforcement to convict their 

traffickers (US Citizenship and Immigration Services, 2011). This is problematic , 

because trafficked people often sympathize with their traffickers, and often manipulated 

psychologically, physically, and emotionally by their traffickers making trafficking 

victims unwilling to work with law enforcement to convict their traffickers (Polaris 

Project, 2013). 



 

 

10 

Trafficking victims who are United States citizens do not need additional certification to 

be eligible for benefits including Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF), 

Medicaid, or Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Programs (SNAP). Victims who are not 

United States citizens are required to go through a further certification process to allow 

them to gain access to these services (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 

2007). 

Minors who are trafficking victims do not need to go through an additional certification 

process, but rather have benefits available to them through the Office of Refugee 

Resettlement in the Health and Human Services (HHS) Administration for Children and 

Families. Among these services is the Unaccompanied Refugee Minor Program, which 

makes services available for international minors who were trafficked into the United 

States. This allows for these minors to receive the full range of benefits that a United 

States citizen minor would have access to if they are not already United States citizens 

(U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2007).  

U-Visas are also used in some cases with victims of trafficking. U-Visas are temporary 

visas given to people who are not U.S. citizens who have suffered mental or physical 

abuse resulting from a crime perpetrated against them. U-Visas also hold the requirement 

that victims help police with the investigation (US Citizenship and Immigration Services, 

2011).  

California Laws About Human Trafficking 

Listed below are the penal codes that relate directly to human trafficking in California. 

Although there are national laws in place, states have their own set of laws regarding 

human trafficking in that state. 

Penal Code § 11165.7: “Mandated Reporter Law” 
Teachers and other school professionals reporting mandates 

All states are mandated to have policies identifying mandated reporters that are required 

to report suspected instances of abuse or neglect including suspected prostitution or 



 

 

11 

coercion to child protective services (Administration for Children and Families , 2012). 

In California, this list is exhaustive and includes teachers and other school officials.  

Penal Code § 236.1: “The California Trafficking Victims Protection Act” (2005) 
Sentencing requirements and definitions 

Passed in 2005, the penal code states definitions and sentencing requirements for human 

trafficking as well as general police protocols. This law uses similar and equitable 

definitions as the Trafficking and Violence Protection Act regarding trafficking 

(Legislative Counsel of California, 2008).  

Penal Code § 13519.14: “The Human Trafficking Collaboration and Training Act”  
Police Requirements 

The Human Trafficking Collaboration and Training Act required the establishment of law 

enforcement guidelines for responding to human trafficking cases. The human trafficking 

guidelines were released in 2008 and are widely available for any police department in 

California. The guidelines list a set of guidelines that police officers and departments 

should be able to identify and includes background knowledge and indicators of human 

trafficking along with appropriate case law (California Commission on Peace Officer 

Standards and Training, 2008). 

Penal Code § 18945: “The Access to Benefits for Human Trafficking and Other 
Serious Crime Victims Act” (2006) 
Benefits to trafficking victims 

Allows for temporary services for immediate assistance for trafficking victims waiting 

for federal benefits. Federal benefits for trafficking victims can take up to two years to 

certify. This was the first of its kind in the United States to allow for benefits in-between 

that time (California Alliance to Combat Trafficking and Slavery Task Force, 2007). 

Proposition 35 
More severe punishments for people convicted of trafficking convictions, police 
guidelines, and restrictions for people on the sex offender registry 

On November 6th 2012, California voters passed proposition 35 with 81.3% of yes votes 

(California Secretary of State Debra Bowen, 2012). Proposition 35 increasesd 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Italic Penal Code



 

 

12 

punishments for human trafficking offenses, increases programming for victims, requires 

police training on handling human trafficking cases, and expands requirements for sex 

offender registration (California Secretary of State, 2012). Proposition 35 was blocked by 

a lawsuit from the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) based on the 

unconstitutionality of the new requirements surrounding sex offender registration and 

monitoring of online activities of people on sex offender registries (California PR Web, 

2012).  

Existing Cconditions in Berkeley 

Berkeley has gone through periods of media speculation around prostitution and sex 

trafficking in the city. These media reports have focused on a few specific concerns. 

Some are concerned about sex work in massage parlors, whereas others are concerned 

about youth who are at risk of being trafficked. 

An area that has been a focalus point of attention concerning prostitution and sex 

trafficking has been massage parlors. Massage parlors along with hotels, strip clubs, and 

other similar commercial businesses are sometimes used as commercial fronts for sex 

trafficking and brothel- style prostitution (Polaris Project, 2013). The police were made 

aware of the allegations through calls for service by community members who lived near 

the establishments, and through online review sites of the businesses that detailed the sex 

acts offered at the establishments (Oakley, 2011).  

Berkeley police closed 12 massage parlor locations in Berkeley that were suspected of 

being fronts for prostitution in the 18 months between January 2010 and July 2011. The 

Berkeley police was made aware of the allegations through calls for service by 

community members who lived near the establishments, and through online review sites 

of the businesses that detailed the services provided (Oakley, 2011). This was executed 

by revoking the business licenses of the establishments, forcing them to shut down based 

on zoning requirements. There were complaints made to police, and investigation of 

explicit reviews made on review websites detailing sex acts that were offered at the 

establishments. The businesses were shut down based on prostitution allegations, 



 

 

13 

however there was not further investigation into whether there was sex trafficking 

present, nor were there any arrests made although there was some concern that the 

women who worked in these establishments were being coerced at some level to perform 

commercial sex acts (Orenstein, 2012).   

This is a place that the sensitivity training of Berkeley police should be investigated. It is 

not clear whether they utilized any tools to tell if the people working in the massage 

parlors were trafficking victims. Although the businesses were shut down, the owners can 

still file for a new business license. This may lead to a pop- up problem for Berkeley, 

where these businesses move locations rather than shut down permanently. 

The department that handles trafficking and prostitution is a small department with only a 

small number of officers (HOW MANY?). For this reason, undercover operations are 

often not feasible for the police department to conduct. For this reasonConsequently, it 

was not possible for the police to discover if there were was trafficking going on in the 

massage parlors or if it was simply sex work.  

The Berkeley Ppolice Ddepartment has data on calls for service and arrest records for 

prostitution and other “lewd acts in public”. These calls for service are from residents 

calling the police about something that they see, and police are dispatched to follow up. 

The Berkeley police generally use two codes when it comes to prostitution calls for 

services and arrest records as seen in Ttable 1. 

Table 1: Police Codes Used by Berkeley Police for Prostitution and Solicitation 

Police Code Meaning  Description 

647(a) Loitering and lewd conduct  Usually in car or on street, 
not always prostitution 
related. Fewer resources 
needed to investigate: 
Usually from Call for 
Service request 

647(b) Prostitution Undercover/decoy usually 
needed, more resources 
needed, 3-4 police officers  

Formatted: Space Before:  6 pt

Formatted: Space Before:  6 pt, After:  6 pt, Line
spacing:  single

Formatted: Space Before:  6 pt

Formatted: Space Before:  6 pt, After:  6 pt, Line
spacing:  single



 

 

14 

The calls for service that have been categorized into these two codes have decreased 

greatly in the last three years. Through my interview with a police officer in Berkeley 

(DID GREENWOOD ASK FOR ANONYMITY?), he estimated that the calls for service 

for these two codes have decreased by half every year since 2010. He estimated that they 

were around 100 calls in 2010, 50 in 2011, and around 25 in 2012. The decreasing 

number of calls for service is interesting, as this is the same period that the massage 

parlors in Berkeley suspected of prostitution were shut down.  

The police have noticed that many issues have gone undercover, and whereas many 

crimes such as drug dealing and prostitution were more visible on the street in the 1980’s 

and 1990’s, technological advances have made it possible for the crimes to become more 

difficult to see as they are not necessarily perreformed on the street as much as they once 

were. Review websites such as yelp, craigslist, and Redbook have made it easier for sex 

workers to find clients, and for massage parlors to stay inconspicuous about the 

commercial sex acts that are offered. The Berkeley police still prosecute street 

prostitution, but understand that the way the crimes are carried out has changed with 

technology. Because of this change, the Berkeley police have changed its strategy when 

addressing these issues.  

The streets that have historically been issues for street solicitation and prostitution in 

Berkeley are San Pablo Aavenue closer to the Berkeley/Emeryville/Oakland border, and 

University Aavenue which runs east/west through the city. Comparing the streets that 

have historically been linked to prostitution to the locations of the massage parlors that 

have recently been shut down based on suspicions of prostitution demonstrates a 

connection between the locations. The streets that have historically been known for street 

prostitution, and the streets where massage parlor businesses that were shut down based 

on prostitution are located are mirrored. This demonstrates that prostitution issues are still 

a problem in these areas, but the form that the prostitution takes has changed. Rather than 

street prostitution, it has moved to massage parlors in these areas. This can beis 

demonstrated in Ffigures 3 and 4. 

 



 

 

15 

Figure 3: Streets known for Street Prostitution in 1980’s and 1990’s 

 
Source: Google Maps, interview with police officers 

 

Figure 4: Locations of Massage Parlors Shut Down based on Prostitution Suspicions 

 
Source: (Oakley, 2011) 

 



 

 

16 

There has recently been media attention surrounding human trafficking, specifically sex 

trafficking in Berkeley. There has been media concern about sex trafficking victims who 

attend Berkeley High School, however these claims have not been backed up with 

confirmed cases of trafficking to the extent that the hype makes up by the police 

(CONFUSING SENTENCE) (Karlamangla, 2011).  

The arrest rates for juveniles in Berkeley, California for prostitution from between 2000–

-2009 were very low, with only four arrests (one in 2005, two in 2006, one in 2007) made 

between those years from data gathered from the Special Requests Unit of the Criminal 

Justice Statistics Center (Beaty, 2011). These low incident and arrest numbers can be 

compared to other jurisdictions in Alameda County, and Oakland in particular, to 

contextualize these numbers. In 2011 four cases of underage sex trafficking were 

investigated, two of which concerned Berkeley High School sStudents. In 2010 there 

were seven reports, three involving Berkeley High School students. However, there were 

zero confirmed cases of underage sex trafficking in either year (Karlamangla, 2011). As 

can be seen in Figure 5, there does not seem to be evidence for a “spillover eaffect” from 

Oakland into Berkeley or any other city in Alameda County with CSEC. 

Although the data demonstrated in Figure 5 seems to indicate that there is not an issue 

with underage sex trafficking in Berkeley, this data is taken from Berkeley and Alameda 

County police data. This does not include data from other sources, such as from service 

providers or other organizations which often have first contact with victims, and as 

demonstrated later in this report, it is not clear that the Berkeley Police Department hasve 

a full picture of the issue for multiple reasons.  

This data also does not include adults who are sex trafficking victims. This data is more 

difficult to determine, and as all minors involved in sex work are categorized ast 

trafficking victims, this is not the case for adults. Not all adults who are arrested for 

prostitution offenses are trafficked or coerced, and the data identifying adult trafficking 

victims from sex workers is much more difficult to divulge.  



 

 

17 

Figure 5: Juvenile Prostitution Arrests 2000-2009 in Alameda County 

 
Data from the Special Requests Unit of the Criminal Justice Statistics Center 

Although these numbers are extremely low in the context of Alameda County and 

Oakland, is not to say that sex trafficking of minors in Berkeley is not a concern. Oakland 

and San Francisco are both known as major hubs for underage sex trafficking, but the 

issue is still important to address in other cities in Alameda County (Guzman, 2011). The 

low statistics may indicate that there have not been police reports or confirmed cases by 

the police, but there still may be exploited girls in Berkeley. This may also be an 

identification issue. Trafficking victims are difficult to locate, because of the secretive 

nature of the issue. Because they tend to be from vulnerable populations, there are 

multiple points of contact with potential victims.  



 

 

18 

 

Potential locations of first contact with victims include: 

 Shelters  

o Homeless and battered women’s 

 Police 

 Child protective services 

 Schools/officials 

 Tip lines  

 Foster care  

 Health care and emergency care workers  

 

Because the first contact with trafficking victims is not always necessarily the police, 

relying only on police data will miss important areas where information on trafficking 

victims can be collected.  

The first contact being with police is an issue in many cases because trafficking victims, 

specifically CSEC, have historically been viewed as criminals rather than victims. This 

mentality is changing in police forces across the country, but in many cases training is 

still needed to help officers identify sex trafficking victims and differentiate sex workers 

from trafficking victims (The Sage Project, 2013). This also does not solve the 

underlying problem that resources and services trafficking victims need are not easily 

accessible in the criminal justice system. This is why a network of services is necessary 

when working with trafficking victims. Understanding other potential points of contact is 

also important when working with sex trafficking victims. Trafficking victims and sex 

workers also come into contact through investigation of other crimes, specifically 

survival crimes or low-level offenses such as petty theft or drug crimes (Strategies for 

Youth, 2012). 

The Sexually Exploited Minors Network (SEM Network) is a network in Alameda 

County of service providers. The goal of the SEM Network is to network with service 

providers in Alameda County in order to better serve CSEC and other exploited minors. 



 

 

19 

It was beguan in 2004, beginning as an informal network that transitioned to a formal 

group. The SEM Network meets monthly and is currently in the steps to secure 501C3 

status, transition their name to SEM Rise, and compile the list of goals for the 

organization (Alameda County California, 2012).  



 

 

20 

III. Policy Options  

For this section I will be detailing several example practices of other cities and counties 

and analyzing them for their potential relevance and replicability in Berkeley based on 

criteria explained below. The options explored below are only a cross-section of the 

available approaches, chosen based on the relevancy within the existing conditions of 

Berkeley at this time by taking into account the size of the city, demographics, available 

data about the problem, and resources available.    

Berkeley will have to make a decision on what aspect of trafficking they would prefer to 

focus on because of limited resources. There are a few distinct categories that they could 

focus on, however they are not mutually exclusive: 

• Focusing on data collection and victim identification 

• Focus on broader goals for police: training police officers to recognize trafficking 

victims in these situations through additional training and explicit training 

materials and police codes. 

• Focus on CSEC, by creating curriculum in schools  

• Focus on massage parlors and other commercial businesses that may be fronts for 

prostitution or trafficking 

• Focus on men who buy commercial sex  

• Create a network with other cities in Alameda County and Alameda County 

services 

 

These six different issue areas will be explored below.   

  



 

 

21 

Understanding the Problem: Data Collection and Identification  

Improving upon the methods for identifying sex trafficking victims is essential to gain an 

understanding of the scope of the problem and assisting those individuals in contacting 

the services that they need.  

The Commission on the Status of Women is already aware of the data collection gaps. As 

human trafficking is difficult to locate and collect data on, what may be helpful to them is 

a map of where to go from here. It is not the focus of this report to compile this data, 

however I will offer recommendations on how to collect the data at a later date. 

The Berkeley police have data about calls for service and arrest rates of prostitution, and 

solicitation in Berkeley, California but this is not the only source of data that can or 

should be used to better understand the problem. The police have not found any 

incidences of human trafficking in the last two years, nor do they have specific protocols 

established for trafficking victims. Relying only on data from the police may lead to gaps 

in data that can be filled through other types of data collection.  

Homeless shelters and services as well as foster care services are locations of first contact 

with trafficking victims. Collecting data from these organizations on if they have training 

for their volunteers and paid staff on how to identify trafficking victims, as well as if they 

have come in contact with trafficking victims is a place where further research is 

necessary beyond this project. This can be accomplished by conducting a qualitative or 

quantitative survey of service providers in Berkeley. 

A quantitative study would be useful if the commission is interested in statistics and 

getting a numerical understanding of the problem. This may be the best first step to better 

understand the problem. This would consist of a closed question survey with some open- 

ended questions that was collected either by physical paper copies, phone, or e-mail that 

include indicators such as: 

• If the volunteers or staff members of the organization have received training on 

how to identify or work with a trafficking victim. 



 

 

22 

• If they have had training, what that training was and if they feel that they have an 

adequate understanding of how to identify and help trafficking victims  

• If they have worked with trafficking victims. 

• How many people in the last year/2 years/5 years they have had who have been or 

have been suspected of being trafficking victims or sexually exploited. 

• How many runaway and homeless youth they work with in general. 

• What other factors the people that they work with are dealing with that are also 

indicators of people who are at risk of being trafficked including abusive homes, 

drug abuse, etc.  

 

A semi or unstructured qualitative study may also be helpful once the scope of the 

problem is better understood, in order to understand better the issues that are apparent in 

working with these populations.  

This alternative (WHICH? Qualitative or quantitative?) is low cost and well within the 

scope of what the Berkeley Commission on the Status of Women can accomplish, as it is 

a research project that an intern or other student can conduct. It will allow for a better 

understanding of the scope of the problem, and will inform what policy options should be 

pursued at a later date. This research project will help close the data collection gaps and 

broaden the data collected past police data.  

If through the research project detailed above it is not clear that homeless and other 

services have adequate training to identify victims of human trafficking, offering 

resources for additional training is an option that may help identify trafficking victims. 

As this information is not yet available, additional training for shelter staff is not an 

option that I will review here. However, it may be useful to look into based on what the 

study turns up.  



 

 

23 

Broad Police Options 

The police are often the first contact with trafficking victims. Building strong policies for 

the police can directly affect trafficking victims by assisting with identification and 

offering services for trafficking victims. The two policies in this section should be treated 

as a pair, as one without the other would be less effective than both together and they 

require similar resources.  

Additional training for police officers 

Proposition 35 has been blocked for possibly violating first amendment rights of people 

on the sex offender registries. However, Berkeley police should be prepared to comply 

with the training requirements.  

The police requirements of Pproposition 35 state that any police officer that who comes 

into contact with CSEC or, a victim of domestic violence or sexual assault, the officer is 

required to look for indicators of human trafficking. These requirements do not add much 

to established police guidelines under The Human Trafficking Collaboration and Training 

Act detailed above, but it does designate additional training of at least 2 hours per officer 

on how to handle human trafficking complaints. It requires this to be completed by July 

1, 2014 or within six months of the officer being assigned to the field of investigative 

work (California Secretary of State, 2012).  

Berkeley already complies with the training requirements outlined in Proposition 35, as it 

holds training for officers concerning human trafficking (both labor and sex trafficking) 

every two years. However, it is unclear whether this training includes sensitivity to 

indicators of trafficking victims (FIND OUT). Adding training on indicators of 

trafficking and in which situations to look for them will strengthen the training on 

trafficking victims considerably and allow for officers to more easily identify victims of 

sex trafficking. 

 



 

 

24 

One option for the Berkeley Police would be to comply with the training requirements in 

The Human Trafficking Collaboration and Training Act and the additional requirements 

of Prop 35. This would mean to create or adopt training guidelines outlined in The 

Human Trafficking Collaboration and Training Act, and training officers in recognition 

of the indicators of trafficking victims. 

Creating a comprehensive police policy for identifying sex trafficking victims 

Creating a comprehensive policy that would help police officers identify and understand 

how to treat human trafficking victims through the system. The Berkeley Police 

Department has an understanding that human trafficking victims are victims rather than 

offenders, however there are not specific policies in place about how to identify and 

handle trafficking victims in the system. 

Contact with police by trafficking victims can be through a prostitution investigation or 

arrest, or through arrest or investigation of another crime. Because it is not always clear 

who is a trafficking victim, a policy in place that gives guidelines on how to identify 

trafficking victims is essential to identify and help victims.  

There are many examples that the Berkeley police could mirror or draw from in crafting 

their policies including information from the Jjustice Ddepartment, the State of 

California, and the United Nations. This option would be low cost and low time, but it 

may lead to increased administrative costs as the policy was drafted and implemented.  

  



 

 

25 

Focus on CSEC 

School Curriculum  

Although many of the options presented may also help identify and target CSEC, 

developing a school curriculum would directly target youth who are at a higher risk of 

being exploited. Developing school curriculum with service providers around human 

trafficking and sexual exploitation is a change that can be made in schools that would 

help inform children about sexual exploitation, and be used as early intervention and 

prevention for youth at high risk.  

The Justice Resource Institute’s “My Life, My Choice” project based in Massachusetts is 

an example of prevention curriculum. This curriculum is designed to be facilitated by 

teachers, care providers, and service workers who work with youth as well as helps these 

teachers and care providers better understand sexual exploitation of youth and how to 

identify and help them. The curriculum includes lesson plans for groups of youth with 

risk factors for being sexually exploited, or youth that who are currently being exploited. 

The course includes 10-week hour and a half sessions that educates youth about myths 

surrounding sexual exploitation, understanding how traffickers recruit and how to avoid 

it, sexual health, the link between sexual exploitation and substance abuse, raising self-

esteem, and pathways out of sexual exploitation and resources available to do so (The 

Justice Resource Institute, 2013). This curriculum is specifically designed for youth with 

risk factors for being exploited.  

  



 

 

26 

Focus on Massage Parlors 

Code Violations 

In 1994, Nassau County Problem Oriented Policing team received an increased number 

of complaints by community groups about the number of massage parlors that were 

fronts for prostitution that were present along the county’s western edge closest to New 

York City. These massage parlors were suspected of being used as fronts for prostitution 

and possibly trafficking and many of the women working as massage therapists were not 

licensed. The county used a different strategy for shutting down massage parlors tied to 

prostitution than the classic route. Rather than revoking their its business license and 

forcing the business to shut down based on zoning requirements, as is the standard 

practice in most cases, they attempted a different kind of code enforcement. Rather than 

attempt to shut down the business directly by targeting business owners, they attempted 

to shut down the business by focusing on the property owners , or landlords (Leahy, 

1995).  

Many of the property owners of buildings that contain commercial-front businesses for 

prostitution are not the same people as the business owners (Polaris Project, 2013). 

Nassau County also found that the original people who signed the lease were difficult if 

not impossible to find, and that the massage parlors had often changed the buildings’ 

structure resulting in fire and building code violations. The Nassau County police 

targeted the property owners, forcing them to shut down the businesses by notifying them 

of the code violations and fraudulent lease agreements. When they did not comply, or 

ignored the violations the police, fire department, and building inspectors began citing the 

owners with large fines. These ranged from $200– - $1000 a day for building code 

violations to $5000 for fire code violations (Hughes, 2005). These fines put pressure on 

the property owners to shut down the business, if they did not they would have to pay 

enormous fees and be liable for charges of allowing prostitution on their property. The 

results were overwhelming, with the police department able to shut down every massage 

parlor that was suspected of prostitution (Leahy, 1995).  



 

 

27 

This policy reduces the likelihood of the popping up nature of businesses like this. By 

just revoking the business license, it is possible that the business will relocate or stay 

open as the process for revoking the business license takes place. By targeting the 

property owners, it makes it more likely that fewer property owners will be willing to 

ignore the type of business that is renting their properties in the future, as they will be 

liable for the fines. It is important to note that although this policy may make it more 

difficult for these businesses to move to the city or county that has the policy, it may also 

just push the businesses to a surrounding city or county.  

Nassau County had an additional issue of how the businesses were being advertised. The 

police cracked down on advertising for massage parlors in newspapers and gym bulletin 

boards (Hughes, 2005). (MORE CONTEXT?) 

 

Berkeley’s policy of revoking permits to shut down illegal massage parlors of revoking 

permits, forcing the closure of the businesses based on zoning requirements is different 

from the Nassau County policy in several distinct ways. The Berkeley policy leaves the 

possibility for the businesses popping up in different locations in the city by getting a 

new business license. The Nassau County policy makes the entire jurisdiction 

inhospitable for future or current traffickers or illegal massage parlor business owners. 

This policy sends a message that illegal massage parlors that allow prostitution are 

unwelcome in their jurisdiction and will not be tolerated. This leads to deterrence for 

traffickers and illegal business owners. The Nassau County policy has a greater 

possibility of deterring traffickers and johns, however like Berkeley’s current policy it 

will not help identify and help victims. The benefit to moving to a policy like Nassau 

County’s would be to act as deterrence and reduce prostitution and by extension the 

possibility of sex trafficking within the city of Berkeley.   

  



 

 

28 

Targeting People who Buy Commercial Sex 

Another strategy is to attempt to deter buyers of commercial sex. There are multiple 

options for this strategy, none that Berkeley may be interested in pursuing. They are 

listed here for the purpose of understanding the policies, as they are an alternative to 

arresting buyers of commercial sex although they require a level of police resources that 

are not available or necessary at this time. In the future, if the conditions change this may 

be a good alternative for Berkeley. These policies target buyers of commercial sex rather 

then trafficking victims in an attempt to reduce demand.  

Dear John Lletters  

Dear John lLetters are a policy that many community groups in the United States have 

beguan using as a tool to deter men who buy commercial sex. The City of Oakland 

California recently began a Dear John letter campaign in neighborhoods that have a high 

density of street prostitution, especially of Commercially Sexually Exploited Children 

(CSEC). Local community organizing groups and the Oakland Police Department work 

together to send letters to men whose cars were in areas in Oakland that are known for 

high levels of prostitution and CSEC and were acting in a way that demonstrated that 

they were looking to hire commercial sex workers (Walter, 2011). Residents in the 

neighborhood send license plate numbers of the men in the neighborhood suspected of 

looking for sex workers. The police department then finds the records based on the 

license plate numbers and sends letters to the owners of the vehicles that explain that 

their actions are illegal and that the community notices their actions, as well as explaining 

that prostitution is linked to human trafficking and sexual exploitation of children. These 

letters are sent out within the week of the Oakland Police Department receiving the 

license plate information after the make and model is checked against the record for the 

driver (Masunaga, 2012). This policy is meant to be a deterrence tool as well as a 

community action model by removing the anonymity of men who buy commercial sex in 

these neighborhoods.  An example of a Dear John Letter from Florida can be seen in 

Appendix B.  



 

 

29 

John Schools 

Colloquially known as “John Schools”, First Offender programs are programs aimed at 

reducing the demand for sex workers in the city that they are implemented by offering or 

mandating that men who buy commercial sex attend a one to three day class session with 

experts and former sex workers instead of or as a part of sentencing (Jordan, 2012).  

San Francisco First Offender Prostitution Program was the first John School that was 

beguan (IN US? IN CA?). It offers first time offenders an alternative to prosecution by 

paying a fee and attending a one-day class as long as they do not reoffend in a certain 

time span. This program is a joint partnership between the San Francisco Police 

Department, San Francisco District Attorney’s office, and a local non-profit organization. 

The fees cover the cost of the programming, making it cost effective. The fees also go to 

support programming in local non-profits that work with CSEC (Michael Shively, et al., 

2008).  

Network with Services in Alameda County 

Many aspects of human trafficking policy may be best accomplished in a network with 

surrounding cities and counties. Trafficked persons, particularly CSEC, may come in 

contact with multiple agencies including health care services, juvenile justice centers, 

mental health care organizations, child welfare, and homeless service organizations and 

each of these agencies deal with a different aspect of the trafficked person’s care (Piening 

& Cross, 2012). For this reason, creating a network of available services that are 

coordinated will help trafficking victims by allowing coordinated care across agencies by 

sharing knowledge and information.  

Alameda County already has a loose network of organizations and resources for 

addressing the needs of CSEC and other trafficked people, and is working on making this 

network stronger (Guzman, 2011). Most of these organizations are focused on or located 

in Oakland, where the majority of the sex trafficking issues in Alameda County are 

located. Berkeley does not have any services that are specified only for victims of human 



 

 

30 

trafficking. Although Berkeley does not have as much of an issue with sex trafficking as 

Oakland, these organizations can offer valuable resources and information to Berkeley. 

Because massage parlors can change jurisdictions rather than shutting down completely, 

this sort of network may help by keeping a record of business owners who have been shut 

down on suspicions of prostitution. This would help other jurisdictions with identifying 

issues of sex trafficking in massage parlors in the future.  

Other counties have had similar networking efforts. Suffolk County in Massachusetts 

developed the Support to End Exploitation Now (SEEN) network in 2001 in response to 

increased understanding of issues affecting CSEC and other underserved populations. 

The SEEN network’s mission is to coordinate with organizations to best serve CSEC, to 

effectively change policy surrounding CSEC, and to increase the effectiveness of 

programming offered for their clients. The network includes 35 public and private 

organizations and agencies and includes coordinated efforts between different 

organizations. Similar to Alameda County’s network where most of the resources are 

focused on Oakland, most of the attention and services are situated around Boston, the 

city with the biggest known problem with CSEC in the county (Piening & Cross, 2012).  

Alameda County’s SEM Network is currently working on establishing themselves and 

creating the goals for the organization. This leaves the opportunity for Berkeley to get 

involved with the network and encourage other smaller cities in Alameda County to get 

involved. Although Oakland is currently the location with the most trafficking issues, a 

countywide approach to this issue would positively benefit all of Alameda County. 

Looking at the SEEN network as an example, it is clear that these networks require many 

resources in order to be as effective as they want. Berkeley could offer resources to the 

organization as well as being a part of the network.  This network is just beginning to get 

started, which leaves Berkeley the opportunity to get involved in the network. 



 

 

31 

IV. Analysis of Options Presented 

I will be analyzing the policy options explained above using criteria in order to better 

assess how the policy will fit for Berkeley. The criteria will be given a value-based score 

of low, medium, or high based on how well they fit the criteria. These criteria are: 

• Cost: The amount of money each option will cost. This criteria is assessed based 

on how well the option fits the criteria., Mmaking a high score on this criteria 

meansing that it is low cost. Although this may seem counter-intuitive, this is 

done in order to be able to compare across criteria.  

• Efficiency: The difference between the cost of the project and the benefit or 

potential impact on the problem.  

• Effectiveness: How much of an impact each policy option has on the problem. 

• Political Feasibility: Whether a policy option will be able to be implemented 

based on the political climate of the location it is to be implemented including 

strength and number of political opponents to the policy option.   

• Administrative Feasibility: The ability of the organizations to implement the 

policy taking into account factors including resources available, complexity and 

difficulty of implementation, whether the option is in the jurisdiction of the 

organization, and other organizational factors.  

They will also be analyzed based on other factors such as the similarity to Berkeley, CA 

in size, need, and other demographic information. The completed options criteria matrix 

can be found in Ffigure 6.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

32 

Figure 6: Alternatives Criteria Matrix 

Created by: Amanda Jordan Christenson 

Status Quo 

Continuing with the status quo in Berkeley does not increase the cost of the programming 

that is currently in place. Victim identification is unlikely to increase ifs Berkeley stays 

with the status quo. Calls for service to the police regarding CSEC and other trafficking 

issues haves been extremely low and decreasing over the last few years and it is unlikely 

that this will change in the next five years.  

The efficiency and effectiveness of the status quo in Berkeley are both low. Although it is 

low cost, the status quo does not have a large impact on sex trafficking in Berkeley 

because it does not effectively identify sex trafficking victims, and there are alternatives 

that may identify victims more effectively.  

The political and administrative feasibility of the status quo are both high because this 

option would not change policy in Berkeley, and there has not been a large amount of 

public outcry against the current policies. It is not apparent that there are any 

administrative issues with the status quo. 

                          

   

  



 

 

33 

Data Collection and Identification 

This option would be to create a quantitative survey of existing service providers in 

Berkeley. As discussed above, this option is a first step policy for the Berkeley 

Commission on the Status of Wwomen in order to gather data on problem.  

This option is the least resource intensive option and is easily within the jurisdiction of 

the Berkeley Commission on the Status of Women. This option would require time to 

craft and administer the survey as well as a small amount of administrative costs included 

in hiring an intern and processing the data. There are multiple free or low cost data 

collection and analysis programs on the market, and unless the commission chose to hire 

an outside consultant, the cost of hiring someone to administer the survey would be 

minimal. Altogether, this option should not cost more than the range of a few hundred 

dollars for the commission including expenses such as travel, and time.  

This option is also administratively feasible for the commission, as it would not take 

many resources and would be in line with their mission and goals.  

This is also politically feasible. As long as responsible and respectful research methods 

were used, and anonymity of the organizations and clients were kept, there should not be 

any major opponents to the data collection plan. In order to be sure of this, anonymity 

must be kept at every stage possible with clients of the organizations.   

This survey is effective in the commission’s goal to collect data about sex trafficking in 

Berkeley. This would help create a more detailed picture of the problem in Berkeley, 

helping the city make decisions on how many resources to spend, and where to spend 

them. Data collection is an important component to crafting effective policy, and this 

option would allow the commission to better understand the problem. Although this 

option would not directly change policy in Berkeley, it would help inform a baseline 

assessment on the issue.  



 

 

34 

This option is rated the highest of the criteria and should be an option that the Berkeley 

Commission on the Status of Women pursues. This is the first step that the commission 

should take.  

Police Options 

This option includes additional training for police officers and creating a comprehensive 

police policy for identifying sex trafficking victims. The Berkeley Police Department 

does not have a separate policy on how to treat CSEC in the system, which is necessary if 

viewing CSEC as victims who should be diverted to services rather than criminals in 

which the goal would be reformation.  

Both of these options would require resources and funds to accomplish. The training 

program would require more resources than drafting a police policy would, as training 

would require more time, but both would require administrative costs to implement. 

Drafting a set of police policies regarding CSEC and other trafficking victims will require 

administrative time and resources to draft the policies.  

The efficiency of both policies in this alternative is high. Although they will require time 

and resources to accomplish, being prepared for future trafficking cases is invaluable. 

This alternative requires less time and resources from the police department than other 

alternatives, and the impact will be great.  

These alternatives would be highly effective in reaching the goal of victim identification 

and helping trafficking victims through the system and connecting to services. Because 

trafficking victims have a different set of needs from other populations, it is important to 

have a policy that is crafted with them in mind. If and when Berkeley Police identify 

trafficking victims in the future, having a policy in place will help accomplish this goal.  

The political feasibility of changing police policy and training in Berkeley would be 

moderate. An outside governmental organization attempting to push changes on the 

police department would not be popular with the department. It is likely that there would 

be backlash from the police department if these policy changes were suggested regardless 

Formatted: Heading 2



 

 

35 

of whether they found them to be good options. These changes would also require funds 

and resources, which would make these policies somewhat unpopular as a rule. It is also 

likely that there would be pushback on these policy changes because the police 

department has not investigated many trafficking cases in the last few years, and they 

already comply with the training requirements from the state, which would make 

devoting more resources and training to the issue seem wasteful. However, these changes 

are likely to be popular with people outside of the Berkeley Police Department, judging 

from the overwhelming popularity of the training component of Proposition 35.  

These policy changes would be useful to mention to the police department to ascertain 

whether the department feels that these changes are administratively feasible to pursue at 

this time. Because training schedules are generally fixed and coordinated, it is possible 

that additional training is not a feasible option at this time. Assuming that there is space 

for additional training and administrative time necessary for the adoption of new policies, 

the administrative feasibility of these two options is moderate. There would not be a need 

to completely overhaul the training practices of the department in regard to human 

trafficking, just to include indicators of trafficking victims, when to look for them, and 

how to treat them in the system. Because the police department already does training on 

human trafficking, this should not be a large administrative burden. Drafting the police 

policies will require more administrative time and resources, however it should not be too 

overwhelming.  

Based on this analysis, changing the police policy and training in Berkeley is an option 

that Berkeley should consider.  

  



 

 

36 

Focus on CSEC 

This option would develop a school curriculum for students with risk factors associated 

with people at risk for being trafficked.   

The cost of this option would vary dependent on which organizations would be holding 

the sessions, how many groups and sessions would be held and how many youth would 

be served by the groups. The “My Life, My Choice” curriculum is a cost (HOW 

MUCH?), as the organizations thate lead the groups would have to purchase the 

curriculum. The curriculum is also recommended to be delivered by a survivor and a 

clinician as well as the facilitators from the organization. These people may volunteer 

their time for this goal, but this should not be assumed. The time required by facilitators 

to prepare the lesson plans and facilitate the sessions is also a factor that should be taken 

into account. Although lesson plans are already included, they also must be tailored for 

the populations that are being targeted with the lessons. The Justice Resource Institute 

also offers the option of their staff coming to the location and training the facilitators to 

facilitate the program, which would be an additional cost. There would also be a need of 

identifying potential victims of exploitation, which has the possibility of being costly. 

Because of these initial and ongoing costs, this option would be resource intensive to 

begin the program and will be moderately costly although once the initial costs are 

covered it will be relatively less costly to maintain.  

The efficiency of this option would be high. Although there are many upfront costs to this 

option, the program would act as prevention for youth who are at risk of being exploited. 

If there were a number of youth who were able to take advantage of this curriculum and 

avoid and be educated about sexual exploitation, this option would be highly efficient.  

The effectiveness of this curriculum has the potential of being high. If this curriculum 

was able to reach youth with risk factors of being exploited, this would reach goals of 

information sharing and prevention very well. If youth understand tactics used by 

traffickers, and gain knowledge about trafficking, they are less likely to get caught in 

exploitive practices that they are unable to leave. However, if this curriculum is used 

Formatted: Heading 2



 

 

37 

more broadly, it may not have as great an eaffect on prevention and would be much more 

costly. Targeting youth with risk factors in this policy choice would make this option 

highly effective.  

The political feasibility of this option is moderate to high. This is likely to be a popular 

alternative to organizations that are concerned about CSEC in their communities, as well 

as educators and the general public in Berkeley. It may be less popular if it requires a 

large amount of resources to get started. 

The administrative feasibility of this curriculum is fairly low to medium. This option 

would require administrative costs, and as Berkeley does not have any organizations in 

the city that specifically target youth at risk of sexual exploitation, an organization that 

does not specifically target sexually exploited youth would need to facilitate the 

curriculum or an organization from outside of Berkeley would be needed. This has the 

possibility of being tricky, as the organization that was to facilitate the curriculum would 

have to shoulder many of the costs and administrative time. If the commission had 

interest in paying for the majority of the curriculum, grant proposals would need to be 

drafted which would be an administrative cost. If the organization chosen does not have 

an explicit mission that is in line with this option, it is possible that it would not be 

feasible to have this curriculum. The commission would need to find an organization that 

had the capacity to administer the curriculum, which may be difficult in an economy 

where non-profits are struggling. 

This alternative is a good option for Berkeley if conditions change. There are not 

currently many known CSEC in the city, and it does not seem to be the major issue that 

Berkeley is facing with sex trafficking. However, if through identification of victims and 

those who are at risk illuminates a population that is at risk, this is an option that 

Berkeley should consider implementing. The benefits of this programming outweigh the 

costs of implementation and would be an effective prevention tool for youth with risk 

factors for being sexually exploited. 



 

 

38 

Focus on Massage Parlors 

This alternative is to change code violations that target property owners of illegal 

massage parlor businesses based on the policy in Nassau County, New York.  

This alternative would be costly to implement. It would require changing police 

procedure, as well as involve multiple city and county departments and organizations that 

are not necessary with the current policy for shutting down massage parlors suspected of 

sex work and trafficking. This would require more resources than are already required.  

The efficiency of this policy option is moderate.  This option would make Berkeley’s 

policy on shutting down massage parlors more effective; in it would help eliminate the 

pop-up nature of businesses like these. However, the policy change would be costly and it 

would likely take time to switch to this strategy. Shutting down of massage parlors in 

Berkeley was a strategy that was fast, with 12 shut down in 18 months, the time that it 

would take to gather resources would change this and it would take more turn around 

time to implement. Because of the pop-up nature of businesses like these, a slow policy is 

not ideal.  

This option is not effective in the goal of targeting sex trafficking in Berkeley. This 

policy does not help identify trafficking victims, nor does it catch traffickers. This policy 

is more aimed at sex work and prostitution rather than sex trafficking, which does not 

improve conditions from Berkeley’s current policy.  

This option is not politically feasible. It would require a high level of resources, and 

would require coordination with many agencies in Alameda County. The political climate 

of Berkeley is such that this policy may be unpopular. The policy criminalizes sex work 

more than may be politically feasible for Berkeley, which has a more open belief about 

sex work in general. However, the Berkeley Police have already been shutting down 

massage parlors suspected of sex work with no major backlash. If this policy was 

packaged in a way that addressed the Lakireddy case and came off as tough on corrupt 

landlords, it is possible that this policy would be more politically feasible.  

Formatted: Heading 2



 

 

39 

The administrative feasibility of this option is low to medium. The Nassau County policy 

may not be feasible to extend to Berkeley. The county was the actor in that policy, and 

they may not be able to have the same level of jurisdiction on the city level. If this were 

true, it would require getting Alameda County involved, which would be difficult to 

accomplish in an effective manner.  

I do not recommend that Berkeley pursue this option at this time. This policy does not 

help identify and help trafficking victims, and it criminalized prostitution to an extent that 

would likely not be politically feasible in Berkeley. Berkeley’s policy on massage parlors 

has a similar outcome without the increased administrative costs that would be necessary 

to institute this change. However, it is a policy that Berkeley should be aware of in case 

conditions change or a tougher policy is needed if businesses owners continue to open 

massage parlors as fronts for prostitution in Berkeley.  

Focus on Buyers of Commercial Sex 

This option includes the Dear John letter campaign , and John Schools.  

The cost of implementing a Dear John letter writing campaign would be low. It would 

require police time and administrative costs to sending out the letters, but as the project is 

designed to be community led, it would not add much of a burden to the police 

department. 

The cost of implementing a John School in Berkeley would be very high. This policy is 

highly resource intensive because it requires coordination with many organizations and 

departments in the city and Alameda County, and the cost of the sessions themselves 

would be very high. Although the San Francisco model is cost effective, this is unlikely 

to be the case at least until it is well established if ever.  

The efficiency of Dear John Letters would be medium. The benefit of the campaign 

would be to take away the anonymity of men who buy commercial sex, and the cost 

would be low. However, as there is not much street prostitution in Berkeley it would be 

difficult to implement.  

Formatted: Heading 2



 

 

40 

 

The efficiency of a John School would be low. The high costs combined with the low 

arrest numbers of men who buy commercial sex makes this option not efficient. It would 

require a high amount of police resources, and as there are not currently many offenders 

in Berkeley, this policy would not be cost efficient.  

The effectiveness of the Dear John letters would be medium. The goal of the campaign is 

to target men who buy commercial sex, however Berkeley does not have a large visual 

presence of these men. There is not much street prostitution in Berkeley, making this 

policy ineffective. However, if these conditions were to change, or if there was a 

neighborhood in Berkeley that had a problem with street prostitution, this policy choice 

would be effective in targeting men who buy commercial sex.  

The effectiveness of starting a John School would be low. Berkeley does not have a large 

street prostitution presence, making this policy unlikely to be effective.  

The political feasibility of the Dear John letter writing campaign would be medium. As it 

requires community members to be an effective policy choice, it would be necessary for 

the policy to be run and started by community organizations. As there is not a large issue 

with CSEC in Berkeley, this policy may come off as overzealous if Berkeley reached out 

to neighborhoods that do not have an issue with street prostitution.  

The political feasibility of a John School would be low. It would be highly resource 

intensive, without much impact because Berkeley does not catch many men who buy 

commercial sex. These two factors would make this policy unpopular because it could be 

seen as a waste of resources.  

The administrative feasibility of a Dear John letter writing campaign is medium. It would 

require interested community groups, but it would not require a large amount of police 

department resources or time to implement.  



 

 

41 

The administrative feasibility of creating a John School would be very low. It would 

require a large amount of resources to start the school, and would require increasing the 

number of officers who worked at catching men who buy commercial sex. This would be 

a huge administrative cost that is not a realistic option for Berkeley at this time.  

A Dear John letter writing campaign is not a good option for Berkeley because it does not 

have a strong presence of street prostitution or CSEC, which is what this policy is aimed 

at. It is also a community-based option, which is out of the jurisdiction of the Berkeley 

Commission on the Status of Women.  

Creating a John School is not ideal for Berkeley, in part because Berkeley does not have 

a large problem with CSEC or other forms of sex trafficking as San Francisco which 

began this program, but also because Berkeley also has taken a more liberal stance on sex 

work so they do not catch many men who buy commercial sex at this time. This is a 

policy they might look into if either of these conditions change. It is too resource 

intensive for Berkeley to start its own John School because they would also have to 

increase the number of officers in their vice squad which currently is a small department. 

They could consider partnering with San Francisco for the men that they do catch buying 

commercial sex, as Alameda County does not currently have a John School. 

Network with Service Organizations in Alameda County 

This option is to join the SEM Network in Alameda County of service providers that are 

likely to come in contact with CSEC and other victims of exploitation.  

The cost of this option would be high. Because the network in Alameda County is still 

coming together and creating the mission and pulling together organizations, the network 

still requires a high level of resources. The administrative costs that would be required to 

have organizations in Berkeley added to this network would also be fairly high.  

The efficiency of this option is medium. Although joining this network would require 

many resources and would be costly, it would also help create a coordinated system for 

assisting sex trafficking victims.  

Formatted: Heading 2



 

 

42 

The effectiveness of this option is high. Joining this network would be in line with many 

of the goals that the Berkeley Commission on the Status of Women have for offering 

services for victims of trafficking and creating more effective policy on this issue.  

The political feasibility of joining the SEM Network would be high. This is likely to be a 

popular option for Berkeley in general as well as the individual organizations that would 

be joining the network as it would offer mutual support to their organizations and make 

an impact on the problem of sex trafficking.  

The administrative feasibility of this option is medium. Because it would require a high 

level of coordination and resources, it would be difficult administratively. However, 

because the organizations would likely be interested in joining the network, the 

coordination should be easier to accomplish.  



 

 

43 

V. Recommendations and Conclusions 
 

Although the data available points to the fact that Berkeley does not have as big an issue 

with sex trafficking as other cities in Alameda County, there are still policy changes that 

the city can and should consider with regard to sex trafficking. These options are less 

resource intensive than other cities may need, as devoting a large amount of resources at 

this time is not necessary for Berkeley based on the current conditions of the city at this 

time.  

Based my analysis of the options evaluated, I have three four main recommendations: 

• Short- term goal of administering and analyzing data from a quantitative study of 

service providers in Berkeley 

• An optional secondary short-term goal of identifying curriculum that may be used 

for at-risk youth that are identified in Berkeley.  

• A mid-term goal to influence the Berkeley Police Department to create a targeted 

set of policies and include additional training for officers 

• As a longer-term goal to join the Alameda County SEM Network.  

Conducting a study of homeless and foster care service providers is the next step that the 

commission should look toward. This will allow them to understand the scope of the 

problem better, and is within their jurisdiction to provide.  

The secondary short-term goal is possible if the administrative issues were worked out 

and if at-risk youth were identified through the study or through other means. This would 

allow for Berkeley to focus on finding a curriculum and a service organization capable of 

using the curriculum for at-risk youth. The My Life, My Choice curriculum is what I 

identified in this report as a best practice for this goal, however it depends on the 

audience that Berkeley intends to use the curriculum for. The My Life, My Choice 

curriculum was created for youth who are at-risk for exploitation specifically in mind. 

This curriculum is designed to be given by service organizations whothat work with these 



 

 

44 

specific populations. This is not a broad curriculum, and should not be used on a broader 

audience than the curriculum intends. If Berkeley is interested in using curriculum for a 

broader audience, they should look to the My Life, My Choice as a best practice and for 

general lesson plan ideas, but look elsewhere for a curriculum with a less specific 

audience in mind. If a specific curriculum is used too broadly it will not have the same 

impact as if it were used with the intended audience and with the number of experts who 

are recommended to oversee the curriculum. This option should be pursued with caution 

and with the understanding of the populations that will be targeted with this curriculum.  

A mid-term goal that Berkeley should look to is influencing the Berkeley Police 

Department to create policies on how to identify and treat sex trafficking victims, 

specifically CSEC.  

Berkeley’s long-term goals should include joining the Alameda County SEM Network. 

This will allow the city to share resources with other cities in the county as well as make 

a countywide impact on sex trafficking in the area.  

Conclusion 

Although resource intensive options are not feasible for Berkeley at this time, low 

resource intensive options will be both feasible and will have an impact on important 

aspects of the problem.  

Further research needs to be conducted about other forms of human trafficking, 

specifically labor trafficking. Sex trafficking and labor trafficking can be connected, and 

ignoring labor trafficking ignores a large swath of victims, both female and male. 

Considering sex trafficking as a subset of labor trafficking will better address the needs of 

women because the two forms are not exclusively gendered, and some estimates state that 

more than half of people trafficked for labor are women. 

 

 

 



 

 

I 

Acknowledgements 
 

Thanks to Sharyl Rabinovici, Mark Henderson, and Edith Kinney for advising me about 

my thesis topic.  

 

Thanks to Lori Drostke for all your help, and introducing me to people to interview.  

 

Thanks to Veronica Beaty for the support, both emotional and housework related.  

 

And finally, thanks to my friends and housemates for being supportive while I completed 

this project.  

 



 

 

II 

Appendicies 

Appendix (A): Article 3 of the United Nations Protocol to Prevent, Suppress 

and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children 

Article 3 

Use of terms 

For the purposes of this Protocol:  

 (a) “Trafficking in persons” shall mean the recruitment, transportation, transfer, 

harboring or receipt of persons, by means of the threat or use of force or other forms of 

coercion, of abduction, of fraud, of deception, of the abuse of power or of a position of 

vulnerability or of the giving or receiving of payments or benefits to achieve the consent 

of a person having control over another person, for the purpose of exploitation. 

Exploitation shall include, at a minimum, the exploitation of the prostitution of others or 

other forms of sexual exploitation, forced labor or services, slavery or practices similar to 

slavery, servitude or the removal of organs;  

 (b) The consent of a victim of trafficking in persons to the intended exploitation set forth 

in subparagraph (a) of this article shall be irrelevant where any of the means set forth in 

subparagraph (a) have been used;  

 (c) The recruitment, transportation, transfer, harboring or receipt off a child for the 

purpose of exploitation shall be considered “trafficking in persons” even if this does not 

involve any of the means set forth in subparagraph (a) of this article;  

 (d) “Child” shall mean any person under eighteen years of age. 

 

Formatted: Heading 2



 

 

III 

Appendix (B): Example of a Dear John Letter from Escambia, Florida  

Oakland Dear John letters focus more on educating people about CSEC than the example 

below, but this is an example of how Dear John Letters can look. 

 

Formatted: Heading 2



 

 

IV 

Works Cited 
 

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2007). Human Trafficking into and 

within the United States. Retrieved from U.S. Department of Health and Human Services: 

http://aspe.hhs.gov/hsp/07/humantrafficking/litrev/ 

 

U.S. Department of State. (2006, January 1). Fact Sheet: Distinctions Between Human 

Smuggling and Human Trafficking 2006. Retrieved from U.S. Department of State: 

http://www.state.gov/m/ds/hstcenter/90434.htm 

 

University of California Berkeley Human Rights Center. (2005, Febuary ). Freedom 

Denied: Forced Labor in California. Retrieved from University of California Berkeley 

Human Rights Center: 

http://www.oas.org/atip/country%20specific/Forced%20Labor%20in%20California.pdf 

 

United Nations. (2000). Protocol to Prevent, Suppress, and Punish Trafficking in 

Persons, Especially Women and Children. United Nations. 

 

United States Department of State. (2008, June 4). Human Trafficking Defined. Retrieved 

from US Department of State: http://www.state.gov/j/tip/rls/tiprpt/2008/105487.htm 

 

United States Department of State. (2012, June). Trafficking in Persons Report. Retrieved 

January 3, 2013, from U.S. Department of State: www.state.gov/j/tip 

 

US Citizenship and Immigration Services. (2011, 10 3). Victims of Human Trafficking: T 

Nonimmigrant Status . Retrieved from US Citizenship and Immigration Services: 

http://www.uscis.gov/portal/site/uscis/menuitem.eb1d4c2a3e5b9ac89243c6a7543f6d1a/?

vgnextoid=02ed3e4d77d73210VgnVCM100000082ca60aRCRD&vgnextchannel=02ed3

e4d77d73210VgnVCM100000082ca60aRCRD 

 



 

 

V 

US Department of State. (2011). What is Modern Slavery? Retrieved from Untited States 

Department of State: http://www.state.gov/j/tip/what/index.htm 

 

Walter, S. (2011, June 20). 'Dear John' Letters: New Tool to Fight Prostitution. 

Retrieved from The Bay Citizen: https://www.baycitizen.org/news/crime/dear-john-

letters-new-tool-fight/ 

 

Administration for Children and Families. (2012, August). Mandatory Reporters of Child 

Abuse and Neglect. Retrieved from Administration for Children and Families : 

https://www.childwelfare.gov/systemwide/laws_policies/statutes/manda.pdf 

 

Alameda County California. (2012). SEMRise / SEM Network. Retrieved from Alameda 

County, California: http://www.acgov.org/icpc/sem/semrise.htm 

 

Barnhart, M. H. (2009). Sex and Slavery: An Analysis of Three Models of State Human 

Trafficking Legislation. William & Mary Journal of Women and the Law , 16 (1). 

 

Beaty, V. (2011). Police Treatment of CSEC in Alameda County . Mills College, 

Oakland. 

 

California Alliance to Combat Trafficking and Slavery Task Force. (2007, October). 

Human Trafficking in California. Retrieved January 12, 2013, from California 

Department of Justice: 

http://oag.ca.gov/sites/all/files/pdfs/publications/Human_Trafficking_Final_Report.pdf 

 

California Commission on Peace Officer Standards and Training. (2008, April).  

Guidelines on Law Enforcement Response to Human Trafficking. Retrieved March 30, 

2013, from California Commission on Peace Officer Standards and Training: 

http://lib.post.ca.gov/Publications/human_trafficking.pdf 

 



 

 

VI 

California PR Web. (2012, November 7). Statement from Prop 35 Campaign Regarding 

ACLU Lawsuit following Landmark Victory on Election Day 2012. Retrieved from San 

Francisco Chronicle: http://www.sfgate.com/business/prweb/article/Statement-from-

Prop-35-Campaign-Regarding-ACLU-4017585.php 

 

California Secretary of State Debra Bowen. (2012, November 6). California Election 

Results. Retrieved April 1, 2013, from California Secretary of State Debra Bowen: 

http://www.sos.ca.gov/elections/sov/2012-general/sov-complete.pdf 

 

California Secretary of State. (2012). Text of Proposed Laws. Retrieved from California 

General Election Official Voter Guide: http://vig.cdn.sos.ca.gov/2012/general/pdf/text-

proposed-laws-v2.pdf#nameddest=prop35 

 

Carlson, D. M. (2005, June). The Demand for Victims of Sex Trafficking. Retrieved 

February 17, 2013, from University of Rhode Island: 

http://www.uri.edu/artsci/wms/hughes/demand_for_victims.pdf 

 

City of Berkeley. (2013). Berkeley Commission on the Status of Women. Retrieved from 

City of Berkeley California City Clerk's Office: 

http://www.ci.berkeley.ca.us/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Commission_on_the_S

tatus_of_Women_Homepage.aspx 

 

Chabria, A. (2001, November 25). His Own Private Berkeley. Retrieved from Los 

Angeles Times: http://articles.latimes.com/2001/nov/25/magazine/tm-7947/2 

 

Clawson, H. J., Layne, M., & Small, K. (2006, December). Estimating Human 

Trafficking into the United States: Development of a Methodology . Retrieved from 

National Criminal Justice Reference Service: 

https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/215475.pdf 

 



 

 

VII 

Diana Russell & Marcia Poole. (2003). The Lakireddy Bali Reddy Case. Retrieved from 

Women Against Sexual Slavery: http://www.wassusa.com/ 

 

Guzman, J. P. (2011, August 25). Draft Protocol Recommendations For A CSEC 

Coordinated System Response in both Alameda County and Bay Area Region. Retrieved 

from http://traffickinginpersonssymposium.files.wordpress.com/2012/03/csec-local-and-

regional-protocol-recommendaitons-82911.pdf 

 

Gozdziak, E. &. (2005). Research on Human Trafficking in North America: A Review of 

Literature. (F. &. Laczko, Ed.) International Migration , 43 (1/2). 

 

International Labor Organization. (2012, June 1). ILO 2012 Global Estimate of Forced 

Labour. Retrieved from International Labor Organization: 

http://www.ilo.org/sapfl/Informationresources/Factsheetsandbrochures/WCMS_181921/l

ang--en/index.htm 

 

Hughes, D. M. (2005). The Demand for Victims of Sex Trafficking. Women's Studies 

Department. University of Rhode Island. 

 

HEAT Watch. (2012). About Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children (CSEC). 

Retrieved from HEAT Watch: Stop Human Exploitation and Trafficking: 

http://www.heat-watch.org/human_trafficking/about_csec 

 

Hepburn, S. (2010). Hidden in Plain Sight: Human Trafficking in the United States. 

Gender Issues , 27 (1). 

 

Jac-Kucharski, A. (2012). The Determinants of Human Trafficking: A US Case Study. 

International Migration , 50 (6). 

 



 

 

VIII 

Jordan, R. L. (2012). Do John Schools Really Decrease Recidivism? DePaul University, 

Program on Human Trafficking and Forced Labor. Chicago: Center for Human Rights 

and Humanitarian Law. 

 

Karlamangla, S. (2011, December 8). Child prostitution investigations in Berkeley drop 

40 percent since last year. Retrieved from The Daily Californian: 

http://www.dailycal.org/2011/12/08/child-prostitution-investigations-in-berkeley-drop-

40-percent-since-last-year/ 

 

Laczko, G. D.-T. (2010). Trafficking in Persons and Development: Towards Greater 

Policy Coherence. (E. Gozdziak, Ed.) International Migration , 48 (4), 39-82. 

 

Leahy, W. M. (1995). Nassau County Police Department: Elimination of Illegal Massage 

Parlors. Retrieved from Center for Problem Oriented Policing: 

http://www.popcenter.org/library/awards/goldstein/1995/95-52.PDF 

 

Lee, I. C., & Lewis, M. (2003). Human Trafficking from a Legal Advocate's Perspective: 

History, Legal Framework and Current Anti-Trafficking Efforts. U. C. Davis Journal of 

International Legislation and Policy , 10. 

 

Legislative Counsel of California. (2008). Penal Code Section 236-237. Retrieved from 

Official California Legislative Information: http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-

bin/displaycode?section=pen&group=00001-01000&file=236-237 

 

Masunaga, S. (2012, October 11). Dear John: Oakland residents are sending your license 

plate number to the cops. Retrieved from Oakland North: 

http://oaklandnorth.net/2012/10/11/dear-john-oakland-residents-are-sending-your-

license-plate-number-to-the-cops/ 

 

 



 

 

IX 

Michael Shively, P., Jalbert, S. K., Kling, R., William Rhodes, P., Finn, P., Flygare, C., et 

al. (2008, March). Final Report on the Evaluation of the First Offender Prostitution 

Program. Retrieved from Office of Research and Evaluation National Institute of Justice: 

https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/222451.pdf 

 

Minnesota Coalition Against Sexual Assult. (2009). The Facts: Sex Trafficking. 

Retrieved from Minnesota Coalition Against Sexual Assult: 

http://www.mncasa.org/Documents/svji_facts_17_3570942294.pdf 

 

MISSEY. (2010). Who is a CSEC? Retrieved from MISSEY: Motivating, Inspiring, 

Supporting and Serving Sexually Exploited Youth: http://www.misssey.org/csec.html 

 

Oakley, D. (2011, July 11). Berkeley closes 12 massage parlors after investigation. 

Retrieved from San Jose Mercury News: 

http://www.mercurynews.com/news/ci_21054685/berkeley-prostitution-investigation-

closes-12-massage-parlors?source=rss 

 

Office of Refugee Resettlement . (2012, August 2). Fact Sheet on Human Trafficking. 

Retrieved from US Department of Health and Human Services: Administration for 

Children and Families: 

http://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/orr/fact_sheet_human_trafficking_english.pdf 

 

Orenstein, N. (2012, June 7). Crack down on massage parlors suspected of prostitution. 

Retrieved from Berkeleyside: Berkeley CA's Independant News Site: 

http://www.berkeleyside.com/2012/06/07/city-focuses-on-massage-parlors-suspected-of-

prostitution/ 

 

 

 

 



 

 

X 

Piening, S., & Cross, T. (2012, May). From “The Life” to My Life: Sexually Exploited 

Children Reclaiming Their Futures: Suffolk County Massachusetts’ Response to 

Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children (CSEC). Retrieved from Children's 

Advocacy Center of Suffolk County: 

http://www.suffolkcac.org/assets/pdf/From_the_Life_to_My_Life_Suffolk_Countys_Res

ponse_to_CSEC_Executive_Summary_2012.pdf 

 

Polaris Project. (2013). Who are the Victims? Retrieved from Polaris Project: For a 

World Without Slavery: http://www.polarisproject.org/human-trafficking/human-

trafficking-faqs#Who are the victims? 

 

Polaris Project. (2013). Fake Massage Businesses. Retrieved Feburary 17, 2013, from 

Polaris Project: For a World Without Slavery: http://www.polarisproject.org/human-

trafficking/sex-trafficking-in-the-us/massage-parlors 

 

Sundaram, V. (2012, February 16). How an infamous Berkeley human trafficking case 

fueled reform. Retrieved from San Francisco Public Press: 

http://sfpublicpress.org/news/2012-02/how-an-infamous-berkeley-human-trafficking-

case-fueled-reform 

 

Strategies for Youth. (2012). How to Recognize a Sexually Exploited Youth. Retrieved 

from Strategies for Youth: http://strategiesforyouth.org/for-police/how-to/how-to-

exploitation/ 

 

The Justice Resource Institute. (2013). The MLMC Curriculum. Retrieved from Justice 

Resource Institute: http://www.jri.org/services/behavioral-health-and-trauma-

services/community-based-behavioral-health-services/my-life-my-choice/services/mlmc-

curriculum 

 



 

 

XI 

The Sage Project. (2013). Five problems with the current CSE/CSEC law enforcement. 

Retrieved from The Sage Project: http://sagesf.org/five-problems-current-cse-csec-law-

enforcement 

 

Trafficking and Violence Protection Act of 2000 . (n.d.). 22 U.S.C. 7101(b)(1) (2000) . 

 

 


























































































































	11-15-23 COSOW Agenda
	Land Acknowledgement Statement
	10-18-23 COSOW DRAFT MINUTES
	Sex Trafficking Report
	Executive Summary
	I. Chapter One
	Description of Rresearch

	II. Background
	Definition of Human Trafficking
	United States Laws about Human Trafficking
	California Laws About Human Trafficking
	Existing Cconditions in Berkeley

	III. Policy Options
	Understanding the Problem: Data Collection and Identification
	Broad Police Options
	Additional training for police officers
	Creating a comprehensive police policy for identifying sex trafficking victims

	Focus on CSEC
	School Curriculum

	Focus on Massage Parlors
	Code Violations

	Targeting People who Buy Commercial Sex
	Dear John Lletters
	John Schools

	Network with Services in Alameda County

	IV. Analysis of Options Presented
	Status Quo
	Data Collection and Identification
	Police Options
	Focus on CSEC
	Focus on Massage Parlors
	Focus on Buyers of Commercial Sex
	Network with Service Organizations in Alameda County

	V. Recommendations and Conclusions
	Conclusion

	Acknowledgements
	Appendicies
	Appendix (A): Article 3 of the United Nations Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children
	Article 3

	Appendix (B): Example of a Dear John Letter from Escambia, Florida

	Works Cited

	6_24_2003; CLK - Resolution; City Council; 62124; ; RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE CITY OF BERKELEY BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2004
	EXPENDITURE Contract - # 6085 - Date Executed_ 8_15_2003 - Berkeley Boosters_BART Escort Services

